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1 MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

2 I. INTRODUCTION

3 This Court should overrule Petitioner’s Objections to the Discovery Commissioner’s

4 findings and conclusions that Lubbers’ inadvertently produced notes are protected, in part, by the

5 attorney-client privilege and the work-product doctrine. Petitioner’s lengthy Objection consists

6 entirely of Petitioner’s unsupported speculation, refusal to acknowledge the evidence presented

7 to the Discovery Commissioner, and erroneous legal arguments. Because Petitioner has failed to

8 demonstrate any clear error or that any factual finding is unsupported by evidence, the Court

9 should affirm the Discovery Commissioner’s findings that Lubbers’ notes are protected.

10 first, the Discovery Commissioner did not err in finding that Lubbers’ typed notes’ are

11 protected by the attorney-client privilege. Lubbers’ typed notes are privileged as long as the

12 notes were prepared in order to obtain legal advice and the information was actually

. 13 communicated to counsel. Here, the typed notes are dated the same date Lubbers participated in

14 a telephone call with his attorneys. On the face of the notes, Lubbers begins by asking three

. 15 questions seeking legal advice. Lubbers then states his belief’ regarding how the Court might

16 view this case and identifies issues in the litigation where he thinks there may be “risk.” In

17 addition, Lubbers’ attorneys confirmed that they spoke to Lubbers on that particular day about

18 the exact types of infonnation that were contained in the notes, demonstrating that the

19 information was actually communicated to counsel. Given this evidence, which Petitioner simply

20 chooses to disregard, the Discovery Commissioner’s findings are supported by the evidence and

21 are not clearly erroneous.

22 Second, in light of the totality of the circumstances, Petitioner’s typed notes are protected

23 by the work-product doctrine. Beginning no later than November 14, 2012, Petitioner took an

24 adverse and hostile position towards Lubbers and the Canarellis. He accused Lubbers of bad

25 faith and threatened to initiate litigation if Lubbers did not comply with his demands. When

26
‘Throughout his forty-page Objection, Petitioner only specifically address one page of Lubbers’

27 notes (Bates No. RESP13285).

28 Page 1 of42
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1 L.ubbers did not agree with Petitioner, Petitioner followed through with his threats and initiated

2 this litigation. In Petitioner’s Initial Petition, he alleged that Lubbers violated his fiduciary duties

3 to Petitioner. In response, and in anticipation of a meeting with counsel, Lubbers prepared his

4 typed notes which, as noted above, contain Lubbers’ mental impressions regarding the litigation

5 and his thoughts as to how Respondents should respond. Based on the totality of the

6 circumstances. Petitioner’s argument that the Discovery Commissioner erred is untenable.

7 Finally, Petitioner argues that Lubbers waived any privilege or protection because (1) the

8 disputed notes were allegedly in the possession of third party American West Development, Inc.

9 C’AWDI”), and (2) Lubbers’ counsel was allegedly reckless in inadvertently disclosing the notes

10 during discovery. Petitioner’s unsupported arguments must be rejected.

11 First, Petitioner’s argument that AWDI possessed the notes is highly misleading. There is

12 no evidence in the record whatsoever that Lubbers’ notes were ever actually reviewed by anyone

13 at AWDI. Moreover, contrary to Petitioner’s unsupported assumptions, the documents Petitioner

14 refers to were merely stored at the building location for AWDI, which is where Respondent

. 15 Laiiy Canarelli maintains his office. And, even if Lubbers’ notes were part of these files, they

16 were reviewed by Tina Goode, who has provided assistance to Larry Canarelh with respect to

17 this litigation. Thus, there is simply no evidence to support Petitioner’s speculative argument.

18 Second, Petitioner argues for the first time before this Court that Respondents waived the

19 privilege because they were allegedly reckless in their document production. The Nevada

20 Supreme Court has made it clear that district courts will not consider a new argument that was

21 not first decided by the Discovery Commissioner. Because Petitioner never raised this argument

22 before the Discovery Commissioner, it must be rejected. Moreover, Petitioner’s argument is

23 unsupported and contrary to reality. There can be no doubt that Respondents took reasonable

24 precautions to protect their attorney-client privileged and work-product protected documents.

25 Nevertheless, Respondents were faced with a monumental task of producing hundreds of

26 thousands of pages of documents. Given the massive amount of documents at issue in this case,

27

28 Page2of42
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1 it is not surprising that a comparative handful of pages were inadvertently produced. Petitioner’s

2 argument has no support under Nevada law or the facts of this case.

3 II. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

4 Petitioner’s Objection includes a lengthy section titled Statement of Facts.” which

5 primarily consists of Petitioner’s unsupported arguments and speculation as opposed to a

6 recitation of fact that is supported by evidence. (Petitioner’s Objections at 6-1 1.) Respondents

7 wilt ftilly address Petitioner’s arguments and speculation in Section IV below.

8 With respect to the relevant and supportable facts, Respondents provided a detailed

9 factual background in their underlying Opposition filed on August 10, 2018, which is

10 incorporated herein by this reference. Rather than repeat that entire factual background here,

11 Respondents will merely summarize the essential facts and discuss any other relevant facts in

5! 12 connection with their response to Petitioiiers substantive arguments.

13
A. Petitioner Threatens Lubbers with Litigation and Accuses Him of Bad faith

In May 2012, Petitioner retained the law firm Solomon Dwiggins & freer to assist him in

15 resuming distributions from the Trust, which Petitioner alleged had been stopped due to

16 “hostility” on the part of his parents, Larry and Heidi. (Sept. 30, 2013, Petition (the “Initial

17 Petition”) ¶j A.13-A.14, Exhibit I to Respondents’ Opp’n to the Motion for Determination of

18 Privilege Designation (the “Opp’n to Privilege Mot.”), on file herein.)

19 On November 14, 2012, Petitioner’s counsel sent a letter to Lubbers threatening litigation

20 in the event Lubbers did not accede to Petitioner’s demands for distributions, which Petitioner’s

21 . ,, . . ,counsel stated were non-negotiable. (Nov. 14, 2012, Letter, Exhibit 2 to the Opp n to Privilege

22 Mot.) In that letter, Petitioner also explicitly accused Lubbers of “per se bad faith.” Id.

23 On November 15, 2012, the day after receiving Petitioner’s threatening letter, Lubbers

24 prepared and sent an Agenda for the weekly meeting that was regularly conducted with LaiTy

25 and Bob Evans at the offices of The American West Home Building Group. One Agenda item is

26

27
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1 identified as “Scott-lawsuit threatened,” which confirms that Lubbers anticipated potential

2 litigation at that time.2 (Exhibit 4 to the Opp’n to Privilege Mot.)

B. Petitioner Files this Lawsuit and, in Response, Lubbers Retains Counsel and
4 Creates the Group 1 Notes (Bates Nos. RESPO132$4-RESPOJ328$)

5 Consistent with his prior threats, Petitioner filed his Initial Petition on or about September

6 30, 2013. (Exhibit 1 to the Opp’n to Privilege Mot.) The Initial Petition contained a number of

adversarial allegations against the Canarellis and Lubbers, who was family Trustee at the time,

8 including that “the family Trustee violated the fiduciary obligations due and owing to

9 Petitioner[.j” Id. ¶ C.6. Petitioner further alleged that Lubbers, as the Independent Trustee,

10 “admitted to Petitioner that he had little or no personal knowledge of the Irrevocable Trust’s

11 management or its assets, despite serving as Independent Trustee since 2005.” Id. ¶ A.15. And

12 Petitioner complained that the trustees sold the Trust’s assets without Petitioner’s knowledge or

13 consent and that Petitioner lacked the information to verify whether the sale was designed to

14
punish Petitioner or otherwise harm his financial interests. Id. ¶J D.5-D.6. The Petition was set to

15 be heard by the Court on October 18, 2013. (Initial Petition at 1; Oct. 2,2013 Notice of Hearing

16 filed and served by Petitioner’s counsel.)

17 Less than two weeks after Petitioner’s service of the Initial Petition and the Notice of

1$ Hearing, Lubbers retained the law firm of Lee, Hernandez, Landrum, Garofalo & Blake

19 (“LHLGB”) to represent him in connection with responding to the Initial Petition (and two other

20

__________________________

2 Petitioner claims that Lubbers could not have subjectively anticipated litigation given
“Petitioner’s genuine fondness for him.” (Petitioner’s Objection at 6.) In addition to the fact this

22 argument is not supported by admissible evidence, it ignores the reality of this case and
Petitioner’s own actions. Petitioner has aggressively pursued this baseless litigation against

23 Lubbers using a scorched earth litigation style and has continued in this conduct after Lubbers’
death, while his widow grieves. Petitioner has conducted a massive fishing expedition in the

24 hopes of finding some sliver of wrongdoing — including having Lubbers and his wife followed

25 by a private investigator before his death. (Exhibit 13 to the Oct. 10, 2018 Pet. for Imposition of
an Adverse Presumption, on file herein.) And, throughout this process, Petitioner consistently

26 mischaracterizes the relevant facts with an eye towards furthering his unsupportable claims. It is
difficult to believe that this is how Petitioner treats people for whom he has a “genuine

27 fondness.”
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1 petitions filed by Petitioner). (Lee Dccl. ¶ 4 and Renwick Deci. ¶ 4, attached to the Opp’n to

2 Privilege Mot.)

3 In anticipation of an initial telephone call with LHLGB, Lubbers prepared (or had

4 prepared) typed notes. (Exhibit 2 to Petitioner’s Objections) (submitted in camera). Generally

5 described, the notes initially set forth questions that Lubbei-s sought to pose to counsel regarding

6 how to respond to the Initial Petition.3 Id. The notes go on to describe Lubbers’ “beliefs”

7 regarding the case, including how Respondents should respond to the Initial Petition, and how

8 the Court may view the case. Id. Finally, the notes reflect Lubbers’ assessment of certain legal

9 issues. Id. Lubbers also created additional handwritten notes during his subsequent call with

10 LHLGB.

11 On October 16, 2013. LHLGB filed Lubbers’ Response to the Initial Petition. The parties

12 and their counsel thereafter appeared at the October 18, 2013 hearing. As a result of the hearing,

. 13 an order was issued on October 24, 2013 in which the Court took jurisdiction over the Trust,

14 confirmed Lubbers as Trustee, ordered an inventory and accounting to be prepared by Lubbers,

: . [5 ordered the turnover of information, and set a hearing date for determining whether the Court

16 should appoint an independent valuator to value the sold assets. On October 31, 2013, Lubbers

17 objected to the language of the October 24, 2013 order. (Trustee’s Objection to the Order, on file

18 herein.)

19 Petitioner filed his Petition to Surcharge on June 27, 2017. As part of their initial

20 disclosures on December 15, 2017, Respondents’ counsel inadvertently produced some of

21 Lubbers’ notes, which are referred to here as the Group 1 Notes. See (Exhibit 2 to Petitioner’s

22 Objections) (submitted in camera).

23 /1/

24 ///

25

26 In this brief, Respondents will only describe the notes in general temis so as to prevent further
harm from the improper use and unauthorized disclosure of Lubbers’ attorney-client privileged

27 and work-product protected material.
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1 C. Stephen Nicolatus Is Appointed to Conduct a Valuation, and Lubbers Creates the

2
Work Product Protected Group 2 Notes (Bates Nos. RESPO7$$99-RESPO78900)

On or about December 2, 2013, Lubbers entered into a stipulation with Petitioner

regarding the appointment of Stephen Nicolatus to conduct a valtiation of the Trtist’s assets that

were sold pursuant to the May 31, 2013 Purchase Agreement (which is the primary subject of

6
Petitioner’s Surcharge Petition). (Stip. And Order Appointing Valuation Expert, Exhibit 6 to

Opp’n to Privilege Mot.) At that time, Petitioner expressly reserved his right to challenge the

8
Purchase Agreement, complaining that he was not told about the sale of the Trust’s assets and

stated that he has questions about the appropriateness of the sale in the first instance. (Dec. 6,

10
2013, Letter from M. Solomon, Exhibit 7 to Opp’n to Privilege Mot.)

On or about December 19, 2013, the parties and their counsel met with Mr. Nicolatus to

! 12
discuss the materials Mr. Nicolams would need to conduct the valuation. Lubbers took notes

during the meeting, which reflect the information Lubbers believed was important to
13

memorialize. (Exhibit 3 to Petitioner’s Objection) (submitted in camera).
14

After the Petition to Surcharge was filed, Respondent’s counsel inadvertently produced
15

16
Lubbers’ December 2013 notes on April 6, 201$, as part of a supplement to Respondents’ Initial

Disclosures.
17

18 D. Petitioner’s Files His Supplement to Petition to Surcharge that Relies, in Part, on
Lubbers’ Notes, and Respondents Seek to Claw Back the Privileged Materials

19
On May 18, 2018, Petitioner filed his Supplement to Petition to Surcharge. In the

20
Supplement, Petitioner included Lubbers’ Group I Notes as Exhibit 4. While the Exhibit itself

21
was submitted in camerci, Petitioner quotes substantial portions of the type-written notes (Bates

22
No. RESP0013285) in the publicly-filed document. (Supplement to Pet. to Surcharge at 18:24-

23
19:8). Once Respondents reviewed the Supplement to Petition to Surcharge, they learned about

24
the inadvertent production of the Group 1 Notes.

25
On June 5. 2018, Respondents’ counsel sent written notice to Petitioner’s counsel

26
demanding that Petitioner return or destroy the Group 1 Notes and agree to redact all public

27
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1 references to the same in the Supplement to Petition to Surcharge. (Exhibit 4 to the Privilege

2 Mot.) This claw back letter was based on the fact that the Group 1 Notes are protected by the

3 attorney-client privilege and the work product doctrine. Id.

4 The following week, counsel for the parties discussed the inadvertent disclosure of the

5 Group 2 Notes.4 (Exhibit 8 to the Privilege Mot.) Respondents sought to claw back these notes

6 because they are protected by the work product doctrine. (Exhibit 10 to the Privilege Mot.) The

7 parties subsequently met and conferred on June 25, 2018, but were unable to resolve the dispute.

2
E. Petitioner’s Motion for Determination of Privilege Designation and the Discovery

9 Commissioner’s Report and Recommendation

10 On July 13, 2018, Petitioner filed his Motion for Determination of Privilege Designation.

11 Respondents subsequently filed their Opposition and Countermotion for Remediation of

12 Improperly Disclosed Attorney-Client Privileged and Work Product Protected Materials.

13 Following a hearing, the Discovery Commissioner issued her Report and Recommendation (the

14 “DCRR”).

15 The Discovery Commissioner found that certain of the Group 1 Notes are protected by

16 the attorney-client privilege. (DCRR at 2:16-17, Exhibit 1 to Petitioner’s Objection.) However,

17 the Discovery Commissioner further found that certain of the attorney-client privileged notes are

18 still subject to the “fiduciary exception” because such documents pertain to the administration of

19 the Trust and the exception set forth inNRS 49.l15(5). See, e.g., id. at 2:18-3:3.

20 The Discovery Commissioner also found that certain disputed notes reflected protected

21 work product. Id. at 4:20-25, 5:7-5:10, 5:15-6:4, 6:22-24, 7:19-22. However, the Discovery

22

23
The parties were able to reach an agreement with respect to additional documents that were also

24 inadvertently produced.

25
On December 17, 2018, Respondents filed their Objections to the DCRR in which Respondents

26 contend that the Discovery Commissioner erred in both recognizing and applying the fiduciary
exception to the attorney-client privilege. Because this issue is being separately briefed,

27 Respondents will not further address it in this Opposition.
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1 Commissioner found that certain notes were still discoverable under the substantial need

2 exception. Id.

3 Petitioner subsequently filed his Objections, which challenge the Discovery

4 Commissioner’s findings and conclusions that certain notes are privileged and protected in the

5 first instance. Petitioner further challenges the Discovery Commissioner’s findings and

6 conclusions that Respondents did not waive any applicable privilege or protection.

7 III. LEGAL STANDARD

8 This Court should adopt the Discovery Commissioner’s Report and Recommendations

9 “unless ‘the findings are based upon material errors in the proceedings or a mistake in law; or are

10 unsupported by any substantial evidence; or are against the clear weight of the evidence.” In re

11 Estate of Hansen, 124 Nev. 1477, 238 P.3d $22 (2008) (quoting Russell v. Thompson, 96 Nev.

12 $30, 834 n.2, 619 P.2d 537, 539—40 n.2 (1980)). The Discovery Commissioner’s factual findings

13 should be accepted unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. (citing NRCP 53(e)(2)). Upon receipt of

14 an objection, this Court may “affirm, reverse or modify the commissioner’s ruling, set the matter

. 15 for hearing, or remand the matter to the commissioner for further action, if necessary.” NRCP

16 16.1(d)(3); see also NRCP 53(e)(2). Nevada district courts will not consider a new argument that

17 was not first decided by the Discovery Commissioner. Valley Health Sys., LLC v. Eighth Judicial

18 Dist. Cottrt ofState ex rd. Cty. of Clark, 127 Nev. 167, 172, 252 P.3d 676, 679 (2011).

19 IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Discovery Commissioner Correctly Concluded that Lubbers’ Group 1
21 Notes Are Protected by the Attorney-Client Privilege

22
Petitioner first raises a series of arguments in support of his contention that the Discovery

23
Commissioner erred by finding any portion of the Group 1 Notes protected by the attorney-client

24
privilege. Each of Petitioner’s arguments, however, are contrary to Nevada law and the record in

25
this case.

26

27
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1 Nevada has a strong public policy recognizing the importance of attorney-client

2 confidentiality. Tahoe Reg’l Planning Agency v. McKay, 769 F.2d 534, 540 (9th Cir. 1985);

3 Mitchell v. Bromberger, 2 Nev. 345, 348 (1866) (“[F]or the benefit and protection of the client,

4 the law places the seal of secrecy upon all communications made to the attorney in the course of

5 his professional employment “). The privilege ‘rests on the theory that encouraging clients

6 to make full disclosure to their attorneys enables the latter to act more effectively, justly, and

7 expeditiously, a benefit out-weighing the risks posed to truth-finding.” Haynes v. State, 103 Nev.

8 309, 317, 739 P.2d 497, 502 (1987).

9 Nevada codified the privilege in NRS 49.095, which provides as follows:

10
A client has a privilege to refuse to disclose, and to prevent any other pci-son from

11 disclosing, confidential communications:

12 1. Between the client or the cLient’s rept-esentative and the cLient’s lawyer or
the representative of the client’s lawyer.

13

14 2. Between the client’s lawyer and the lawyer’s representative.

15 3. Made for the puose of facilitating the rendition of professional legal
services to the client, by the client or the client’s lawyer to a lawyer

16 representing another in a matter of common interest.

17 NRS 49.095. The person asserting the privilege has the burden of establishing that it exists. Balls

18 v. United States, 52 F.3d 223, 225 (9thCir. 1995).

19 “The accepted theory is that the protection afforded by the privilege will in general

20 survive the death of the client.” 1 McCormick On Evid. § 94 (7th ed.). This principle is codified

21 in Nevada law, which permits the privilege to be claimed by “the personal representative of a

22 deceased client.” NRS 49.105.

23 Applying these principles to the Group 1 Notes and the evidence submitted by

24 Respondents, Petitioner’s argciment that the privilege does not apply is untenable.

25 /1/

26 /1/

27 III
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2 1. Petitioner’s Argument that Lubbers’ Typed Notes Are Not Privileged
Because They Were Not Provided To Counsel Is Contrary to the Law

Petitioner’s first argument is based on a faulty premise and a disregard of the relevant

evidence. See (Pet. Objections at 13-15). Petitioner claims that Lubbers’ typed notes (Bates No.

RESP0013285) are not subject to the privilege because they are a preparatory communication.

6 (Pet.’s Objection at ] 3.) And. Petitioner falsely claims there is no evidence the notes were

created by Lubbers or physically provided to counsel. Id. at 14. Petitioner’s argument must be

8 rejected.

Petitioner assumes, without evidence, that the typed notes were prepared in anticipation

10 of an attorney-client meeting as opposed to a memorialization of such a meeting. Either way,

however, the notes are privileged. Petitioner does not dispute that “[tJhe memorializations of

12 private conversations ... with [an] attorney are protected from disclosure by the attorney-client

13 privilege.” United States v. DeFonte, 441 f.3d 92, 95 (2d Cir. 2006). Thus, to the extent the

14 notes memorialize Lubbers’ discussion with counsel, there is no dispute they are privileged.

15 However, even if the notes were prepared in anticipation of an attorney-client meeting,

16 they are still privileged. Id. Notes taken by a client in anticipation of an attorney-client meeting

17 for the purpose of seeking legal advice are privileged. Id.; Graves v. Deutsche Bank Sec., Inc.,

18 2011 WL 721558, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 10, 2011) (“The notes taken by a client in anticipation of

19 the meeting with the client’s attorney may be subject to the attorney-client privilege.”); Bernbach

20 v. Timex Corp., 174 F.R.D. 9, 10 (D. Conn. 1997).

21 Contrary to Petitioner’s argument, there is no requirement that such notes be actually

22 provided to counsel. Defonte, 441 f.3d at 96. Instead, the information contained in the notes

23 simply needs to be communicated to the attorney to obtain legal advice. Bernbach, 174 F.R.D. at

24 10. As explained by the Second Circuit in DeFonte, the underlying policy of the attorney-client

25 privilege is furthered so long as such information is actually communicated to the attorney. 441

26 F.3d at 95-96. “A rule that allows no privilege at all for such records would discourage clients

27
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1 from taking the reasonable step of preparing an outline to assist in a conversation with their

2 attorney.” Id. at 96.

3 The authorities cited by Petitioner do not hold otherwise. First, Centeno Supermarkets,

4 Inc. v. H.E. Butt Grocery Co., 1987 WL 42402, at *5 (W.D. Tex. Sept. 2, 1987) is inapplicable

5 because it did not involve notes prepared by a client for purposes of obtaining legal advice.

6 Instead, the case involved an internal memorandum that was written by a company President to

7 the Vice President of finance. Id. As such, there was no attorney-client communication involved.

8 Second, the Supreme Court of California’s decision in People v. Gtttierrez, 45 Cal. 4th

9 789, 817, 200 P.3d 847, 867 (2009), is equally inapposite. In that case, the party asserting the

10 privilege indicated that he planned to show pre-existing documents to his attorney. Id. However,

11 the court correctly noted that the intent to show a document to a lawyer does not transform such

12 a document to a privileged communication. Id. Moreover, the information was never actually

13 subject of an attorney-client communication. Id.

14 Finally, the courts in Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. United States, 83 Fed. Cl. 195, 208 (2008)

15 and Holliday v. Extcx, 447 F. Supp. 2d 1131, 1137 (D. Haw. 2006), did not discuss at all whether

16 the notes at issue were ever communicated to counsel in any fashion. As such, there is no

17 indication the Court ever considered the issue of whether written notes taken for the purposes of

18 facilitating an attorney-client communication are also privileged.

19 Moreover, the rule set forth in DeFonte is entirely consistent with Nevada law. Nevada

20 law protects “confidential communications. . . [m]ade for the purpose of facilitating the rendition

21 of professional legal services to the client. . . .“ NRS 49.095(3). Such communications can be

22 made either orally or in writing. And, a rule that would prevent a client from creating notes that

23 the client wished to discuss with his or her attorney is contrary to Nevada public policy, which

24 encourages clients to make full disclosure to their attorneys. Client notes containing questions

25 and information they wish to convey to their attorney certainly facilitates the rendition of

26 professional legal services.

27
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1 Based on the foregoing, Petitioner’s argument that there is no evidence the typed notes

2 were given to Lubbers’ counsel is it-relevant to the issue of whether the notes are privileged. To

3 the contrary, if a client creates notes to assist him with an upcoming attorney-client meeting, the

4 information need only be communicated with counsel in order to fall squarely within the

5 attorney-client privilege. And, as discussed in Section IV(A)(2) below, the evidence in the record

6 demonstrates the information contained in Lubbers’ notes was shared with his counsel.

7 Petitioner also argues that there is no evidence Lubbers created the typed notes. Here,

$ Petitioner simply disregards the Discovery Commissioner’s findings, which are supported by the

9 evidence. As Petitioner correctly states, the notes at issue were produced from Lubbers’ hard file

10 within the folder entitled Corresp, Notes & Memos.” (Pet. Objection at 14.) Furthermore, the

11 typed notes were found along with Lubbers’ handwritten notes from his meeting with counsel,

12 demonstrating the notes were part of the same attorney-client communication. See (Exhibit 2 to

13 Petitioner’s Objections) (submitted in carnerct).

14 Moreover, the Discovery Commissioner found that the handwritten date on the typed

15 notes “is consistent with the date Lubbers consulted with his lawyer, and the notes reflect the

16 types of things one would discuss with his/her attorney.” (DCRR at 4:27-5:3, Exhibit 1 to

17 Petitioner’s Objection.) And, the Discovery Commissioner, after reviewing the handwriting on

18 the notes, stated that she believed the handwriting was authored by Lubbers. Id. at 5:4-6.

19 Petitioner does not dispute any of this circumstantial evidence or present any contradictory

20 evidence. Thus, Petitioner’s objection fails because the evidence supports the Discovery

21 Commissioner’s findings and conclusions that the Group 1 Notes are, in part, protected by the

22 attorney-client privilege.

23
2. Substantial Evidence Demonstrates that the Information in the Typed Notes

24 Was Communicated to Lubbers’ Attorneys

25 Petitioner next argues that there is no evidence the typed notes were discussed with

26 Lubbers’ counsel. (Pet. Objection at 15-17.) In support of this argument, Petitioner asks this

27 Court to disregard the evidence presented to the Discovery Commissioner by Respondents in
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1 favor of Petitioner’s speculation about what occurred (or did not occur) during Lubbers’ meeting

2 with counsel. Petitioner’s argLlment is misplaced because this Cotirt must accept the Discovery

3 Commissioner’s factual findings as long as they are supported by the evidence and not clearly

4 erroneous. See hi i.e Estcite oJHanscn, 124 Nev. 1477, at * 1.

5 As discussed above, Lubbers’ typed notes are privileged so long as the notes were

6 prepared in order to obtain legal advice and the information was actually communicated to

7 counsel. DeFonte, 441 F.3d at 96; Graves, 2011 WL 721558, at *1; Bern bach, 174 F.R.D. at 10.6

8 Here, the Discovery Commissioner’s findings and conclusions are support by substantial

9 evidence.

10 The typed notes beat Lubbers’ hand-written date of October 14, 2013, which is the same

11 date Lubbers participated in a half-hour telephone call with his attorneys.7 (Exhibit 2 to

12 Petitioner’s Objections) (submitted in camera). The notes begin with three questions seeking

13 legal advice regarding various aspects of responding to the Initial Petition. Id. The notes continue

14 by stating Lubbers’ belief’ as to how the Cotirt might look at the case. (Exhibit 2 to Petitioner’s

15

16

_________________________

17
6 In support of his argument, Petitioner cites several cases that have no bearing on the relevant
issue. See (Pet. Objection at 15-16.) First, United States v. Davita, Inc., 301 F.R.D. 676, 683

18 (N.D. Ga. 2014), addressed the principle that transmitting non-privileged documents to an
attorney does not make such documents privileged. In this case, there is no evidence whatsoever

19 that Lubbers’ notes were a pre-existing, non-privileged document. To the contrary, and as
discussed further in this brief, they were prepared for the purpose of obtaining legal advice and

20 communicated to Lubbers’ counsel.

21 Second, in Lee v. Condell, 208 So. 3d 253, 257 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2016), the trial court
found that certain personal notes were not privileged because “Lee never gave the notes to his

22 attorney (or even discussed them with her until after the deposition)—and obviously only
after a plea was reached—they were not written for trial preparation or strategy purposes.”

23 (emphasis added). This decision was affirmed by the appellate court. Thus, contrary to the case
at bar, the court in Lee simply did not address whether client notes prepared for the purpose of

24 assisting the client with an attorney-client meeting are privileged when the information in the

25 notes is communicated to counsel. Instead, Lee is consistent with Defonte because the court
noted the notes at issue in that case were not discussed with counsel at the relevant time.

26
As discussed above, the Discovery Commissioner correctly found that the typed notes also had

27 Lubbers’ handwriting on them.
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1 Objections) (submitted in cctmera). And, Lubbers then identifies issues where he believes there

2 may be “risk.” Id.

3 In addition to the contents of the notes, Lubbers’ prior counsel, David S. Lee and

4 Charlene N. Renwick, provided declarations that support the finding of attorney-client privilege.

5 Attorneys Lee and Renwick had a conference call with Lubbers on October 14, 2013 that lasted

6 approximately a half hour. (Lee Dccl. ¶ 7, Renwick Dccl. ¶ 6, attached to Opp’n to the Privilege

7 Mot.) During this call, Lubbers asked his counsel several questions about his potential response

8 to the petitions and stated his views about several matters related to the petitions and potential

9 strategies for defending against certain allegations. Id. ¶ 8; (Rernvick Deci. ¶ 7.)

10 Thus, the evidence in this case shows that Lubbers prepared type-written notes bearing

11 the same date as an attorney-client privileged call he had with attorneys Lee and Renwick. The

j 12 notes contain Lubbers questions, beliefs and concerns as to potential risk in the litigation, which

. 13 are the exact topics that Lubbers discussed with attorneys Lee and Renwick. The Discovery

14 Commissioner’s findings are supported by the evidence.

15 Furthermore, the Discovery Commissioner found that “the notes reflect the types of

16 things one would discuss with his/her attorney.” (DCRR at 5:1-3, Exhibit 1 to Petitioner’s

17 Objection.) Although Petitioner tries to portray this finding as speculative, the Discovery

18 Commissioner had an opportunity to review the notes in the context of this case. And, based on

19 the Discovery Commissioner’s experience and expertise, as well as her understanding of the

20 issues in this matter, she is certainly knowledgeable about the types of things one would typically

21 discuss with their attorney. There is nothing speculative about such a finding.

22 Given the contents of the notes, the handwritten date, and the Declarations of Lee and

23 Renwick, substantial evidence supports the Discovery Commissioners’ findings and conclusions.

24 In his Objection, Petitioner simply seeks to ignore the evidence by referring to the Declarations

25 of Lee and Renwick as “self-serving” and doubting their veracity. (Pet. Objection at 16.)

26

27
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1 Although Petitioner might not be happy about the evidence, he has provided no evidence to

2 question the truthfulness of the Declarations, which were signed by officers of the court.

3 Instead of disputing the evidence, Petitioner merely speculates that it would not be

4 possible for Lubbers and his counsel to discuss all three of the petitions Scott filed in a thirty-

5 minute phone call. Id. And, Petitioner complains that the notes do not reference his request for

6 distributions. Id. Contrary to Petitioner’s speculation. Lubbers and his counsel had the right to

7 discuss whatever issues they deemed important and to discuss such issues for as little or as long

8 as they liked. Petitioner’s speculation about vhat was or was not discussed has no bearing on

9 whether the Discovery Commissioner’s findings are supported by substantial evidence.

10 Petitioner’s arguments must be rejected because they are contrary to the facts presented to the

11 Discovery Commissioner that support the findings and conclusions of privilege.

3. The Discovery Commissioner’s Findings Are Neither Speculative Nor
13 Contradictory

14 Petitioner next argues that the Discovery Commissioner made several assumptions and

15 speculated about the circumstances under which Lubbers authored the Group 1 Notes. (Pet.

16 Objection at 17-18.) In support of this argument, Petitioner cites to two coniments made by the

17 Discovery Commissioner during the August 29, 2018, hearing. Id. However, neither comment

18 demonstrates any error.

19 During the hearing, the Discovery Commissioner correctly noted that it was unclear if the

20 notes were prepared before, contemporaneous with, or after Lubbers’ discussion with his

21 counsel. (Exhibit 7 to Pet. Objections at 32:22-33:4.) The Discovery Commissioner further

22 correctly noted that there was no disagreement that all the notes at issue were Lubbers’ notes. Id.

23 at32:18-21.

24 As discussed above, it does not matter whether the notes were (1) a memorialization of a

25 conversation with counsel, or (2) if they were prepared in anticipation of a call with counsel. See

26 DeFonte, 441 f.3d at 95-96. If the notes consist of a memorialization or the call, there is no

27 question they are privileged. Id. On the other hand, if the notes were prepared in anticipation of
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1 a conversation with counsel, they are still privileged so long as the contents were communicated

2 to counsel. Id. And, as fully discussed above, substantial evidence supports the Discovery

3 Commissioner’s findings. The Discovery Commissioner’s uncertainty about when the notes were

4 created does not matter because the decision would have been the same regardless of when the

5 notes were created.

6 4. Respondents Did Not Selectively Waive the Attorney-Client Privilege

7 Petitioner next contends that Lubbers has selectively waived the attorney-client privilege

8 because his current counsel provided a declaration that describes the circumstances under which

9 the notes were prepared. (Pet. Objection at 18-19.) Contrary to Petitioner’s argument, Lubbers’

10 counsel did not disclose any attorney-client privileged information. Moreover, Petitioner’s

11 argument has no bearing on the issue presented, which is whether the DCRR is supported by

12 evidence or clearly erroneous.

13 The subject-matter waiver doctrine that Petitioner relies upon was described by the

14 Nevada Supreme Court in Wardleigh v. Second Judicial Dist. Court In & for Civ. of Wctshoe,

15 iii Nev. 345, 354, 891 P.2d 1180, 1186 (1995). “[WJhere a party seeks an advantage in

16 litigation by revealing part of a privileged communication, the party shall be deemed to have

17 waived the entire attorney-client privilege as it relates to the subject matter of that which was

18 partially disclosed.” Id. Thus, “where a party injects part of a communication as evidence,

19 fairness demands that the opposing party be allowed to examine the whole picture.” Id. at 355,

20 891 P.2d at 1186 (quoting Remington Arms Co. v. Liberty Mitt. Ins. Co., 142 F.R.D. 408, 413 (D.

21 Del. 1992)). But “at issue” waiver only occurs “when the holder of the privilege pleads a claim

22 or defense in such a way that eventually he or she will be forced to draw upon the privileged

23 communication at trial in order to prevail.” Id. at 355, 891 P.2d at 1186. That is certainly not the

24 case here as it is Petitioner—not Respondents—who seeks to make use of Lubbers’ privileged

25 communications. Petitioner’s desire to use Lubbers’ privileged communications to support his

26 Supplemental Petition does not, however, place the communications “at issue” as a party “cannot

27
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1 breach his opponent’s privilege by the posturing of his own pleading.” Gutter v. El. DttFont de

2 Neinours & Co., 2001 WL 36086589, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 27, 2001); Chase Manhattan Bank

3 NA. v. Drvsdale Sees. Coip., 587 F. Supp. 57, 59 (S.D.N.Y. 1984) (same).

4 Regardless, Respondents did not reveal any attorney-client privileged communication

5 that could result in any waiver. Instead, Respondents revealed the circumstances under which an

6 attorney-client communication was made, as opposed to the contents of that communication.

7 ‘[A] client does not waive his attorney-client privilege merely by disclosing a subject which he

8 had discussed with his attorney”; rather, “in order to waive the privilege, the client must disclose

9 the communication with the attorney itself.” United States i’. ü ‘Mallei’, 786 f.2d 786, 794 (7th

10 Cir. 1986) (quoted with approval in Wynn Resorts, Ltd. v. Eighth Jttdieiat Dist. Ct., 399 P.3d

11 334, 345-46 (Nev. 2017)).

12 At issue is the Declaration of Mr. Williams in which Mr. Williams wrote that “[i]n

13 anticipation of the call with attorneys Lee and Renwick, Lubbers prepared te-vritten notes.”

14 (Williams Dccl. ¶ 12, attached to Opp’n to Privilege Mot.) In this statement, Mr. Williams did

15 not reveal any confidential communication between Lubbers and attorneys Lee and Renwick.

16 Nor did he reveal any communications between himself and Lubbers. Instead, Mr. Williams

17 simply articulated Respondents’ position regarding the circumstances under which Lubbers

18 created the notes, which is not privileged.8 Because Mr. Williams did not reveal any portion of

19 any communications between Lubbers and any of his counsel, no subject matter waiver even

20 arguably occurred.

21 In sum, the subject matter waiver doctrine has nothing to do with the issue before the

22 Court, which is whether the Court should adopt the DCRR (at least in part). This is not a case

23 where Petitioner is seeking discovery regarding an entire conversation based on Respondents’

24 self-serving, partial disclosure of that conversation in an attempt to prove a claim or defense. Just

25

26 8 There is also no indication that the Discovery Commissioner relied upon Mr. Williams’
Declaration in making her findings of fact and conclusions of law. Instead, as fully discussed

27 herein, the DCRR is supported by substantial evidence other than Mr. Williams’ Declaration.
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1 the opposite is true. Respondents’ position is that the subject communications cannot be used by

2 any party at trial because they are privileged as the Discovery Commissioner properly found.

B. The Discovery Commissioner Correctly Concluded that Lubbers’ Notes Are

4 Protected by the Work-Product Doctrine

5 Petitioner next raises several objections regarding the Discovery Commissioner’s

6 findings and conclusions on the work product doctrine. The work-product doctrine is “broader

than the attorney-client privilege.” Wviin Resorts, 399 P.3d at 347 (citing Hick7nan v. Taylor, 329

8 U.s. 495, 508, 67 S.Ct. 385 (1947)). Like its federal counterpart, the doctrine “protects

documents with ‘two characteristics: (1) they must be prepared in anticipation of litigation or for

10 trial, and (2) they must be prepared by or for another party or by or for that other party’s

11 representative.” Id. (citing In re Grctnd Jttre Subpoena (Mark Toij/ToifEnvtl. Mgmt.) (Toif,,

12 F.3d 900, 907 (9th Cir. 2004)). “Under the ‘because of test.” adopted by the Nevada

13 Supreme Court, “documents are prepared in anticipation of litigation when ‘in light of the nature

14
of the document and the factual situation in the particular case, the document can fairly be said to

15 have been prepared or obtained because of the prospect of litigation.” Id. (citing Restatement

16 (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers § 87 cmt. i (2000)).

17 In determining whether the “because of’ test is met, the Nevada Supreme Court applies a

18 “totality of the circumstances” standard. Id. at 348. “In evaluating the totality of the

19 circumstances, the court should ‘look[ ] to the context of the communication and content of the

20 document to determine whether a request for legal advice is in fact fairly implied, taking into

21 account the facts surrounding the creation of the document and the nature of the document.” Id.

22 (quoting In re CV Therapeutics, Inc. Sec. Litig., 2006 WL 1699536, at *4 (ND. Cal. June 16,

23 2006)). The party asserting the work-product doctrine has the burden of establishing its

24 applicability. Diamond State his. Co. v. Rebel Oil Co., 157 F.R.D. 691, 699 (D. Nev. 1994).

25 In this case, Petitioner’s brief focuses entirely on Lubbers’ typed notes (Bates No.

26 RESP0013285). Indeed, Petitioner does not specifically address any other protected document.

27 In making his arguments, Petitioner ignores the totality of the circumstances surrounding
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1 Lubbers’ creation of his notes and, instead, relies on pure speculation that Lubbers’ notes would

2 have been created in substantially the same fonri even without litigation. Unfortunately for

3 Petitioner, the Discovery Commissioner’s findings are stipported by the evidence, and Petitioner

4 has not and cannot demonstrate any clear error. See In re Estate ofHansen, 124 Nev. 1477, at * 1.

5 Petitioner’s specific arguments will be refuted in the same order presented by Petitioner.

6 1. Lubbers’ Group 1 Notes Are Protected Work Product

7 Petitioner first appears to argue that Lubbers’ Group 1 Notes were not prepared in

$ anticipation of litigation because: (1) trust litigation in general is allegedly not adversarial; and

9 (2) Respondents did not identify any wrongdoing alleged against Lubbers in the Initial Petition.

10 (Pet. Objection at 21-22.) Petitioner’s arguments ignore the actual findings made by the

11 Discovery Commissioner, which are supported by the evidence in the record and the totality of

12 the circumstances.

13 The Discovery Commissioner found that “Lubbers anticipated litigation at the time the

14 Initial Petition was filed and at the time the Disputed Documents were prepared.” (DCRR at

15 3:23-25, Exhibit 1 to Petitioner’s Objection.) This finding is supported by the evidence presented

16 to the Discovery Commissioner.

17 As early as November 14, 2012, Petitioner’s counsel sent Lubbers (not the Canarellis) a

1$ threatening and adversarial letter demanding distributions and disptiting Lubbers’ interpretation

19 of the Trust agreement. (Nov. 14, 2012, Letter, Exhibit 2 to the Opp’n to Privilege Mot.) In the

20 letter, Petitioner claimed that Lubbers and the other Trustees “fail[ed] to act upon several of

21 Scott’s recent requests for distributions without appropriate justification.” Id. (emphasis

22 added). Petitioner further accused Lubbers of acting in ‘per se bad faith.” Id. And, Petitioner

23 complained that the ‘neutra1itv” of the Trustees, which included Lubbers as Independent Trustee,

24 “is compromised and Scott’s wellbeing is subordinate to other considerations.” Id. As such,

25 Petitioner threatened to initiate litigation. Id. This threatened lawsuit tvas significant enough in

26

27
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1 the eyes of Respondents such that Lubbers placed it on their weekly agenda for discussion in

2 November 2012. (Exhibit 4 to the Opp’n to Privilege Mot.)

3 Scott did, in fact, institute litigation when he filed the Initial Petition in September 2013,

4 which contained a number of adversarial allegations against both the Canarellis and Lubbers. See

5 (Exhibit I to the Opp’n to Privilege Mot.) In fact, the Initial Petition expressly accuses Lubbers,

6 who was the Family Trustee at the time, of “violat[ing] the fiduciary obligations due and owing

7 to Petitioner[.J” Id. C.6. Petitioner’s Objection entirely ignores and/or attempts to downplay his

8 own allegations.

9 As a result of the lawsuit, Lubbers retained the law firm of LHLGB to represent him.

10 (Lee DecI. ¶ 4 and Renwick Dccl ¶ 4, attached to the Opp’n to Privilege Mot.) in anticipation of

11 that call, Lubbers created the Group 1 Notes, which themselves demonstrate that Lubbers

12 anticipated litigation. As discussed throughout this brief, Lubbers’ notes contain questions

13 directed at his counsel, they describe Lubbers’ beliefs regarding this case, including how

14 Lubbers should respond to the lawsuit, and they indicate areas where Lubbers believes that

15 Lubbers might be as risk. (Exhibit 2 to Petitioner’s Objections.)

16 Based on the totality of the circumstances. Lubbers’ Group I Notes were created because

17 Lubbers anticipated litigation. This is demonstrated by Petitioner’s allegations and threats in his

18 November 14, 2012, Letter, the fact that Petitioner followed through with his threats and filed a

19 lawsuit complaining about Lubbers’ alleged acts and omissions, and the fact that Petitioner’s

20 Initial Petition itself contained adversarial allegations accusing Lubbers of breaching his

21 fiduciary duties, a claim that Petitioner expanded upon against Lubbers in his Petition to

22 Surcharge. Based on all of this evidence, the Discovery Commissioner’s finding that Lubbers

23 anticipated litigation at the time his notes were created is supported by substantial evidence and

24 is not clearly erroneous.9 Lubbers would not have created the Group 1 Notes but for his

25

26 For the same reason, Petitioner’s argument that the Discovery Commissioner’s comments
during the hearing in this matter were based on mere speculation is equally erroneous. See

27 (Petitioner’s Objection at 20) (citing Exhibit 7 at 82:2-4, 87:22-88:3, and 87:22-88:3.) The
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1 anticipation of litigation. Petitioner’s mere disagreement with the Discovety Commissioner’s

2 findings is insufficient for this Court to sustain his objection. See In re Estate of Hansen, 124

3 Nev. 1477, at *1.

4 Ignoring the actual circumstances of this case (which this Court is required to consider),

5 Petitioner instead argues that trust proceedings in general are administrative and not adversarial.

6 (Petitioner’s Objection at 21.) As a threshold matter, however, Petitioner has not cited a single

7 authority that stands for the proposition that the work-product doctrine does not apply to trust

8 proceedings because they are allegedly administrative in nature.

9 To the contrary, the comments to the Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers

10 § 87, comment c. (2000), which the Nevada Supreme Court found to be consistent with Nevada

11 law, states that “[w]ork-product immunity is also recognized in criminal and administrative

12 proceedings (emphasis added). “In general, a proceeding is adversarial when evidence or

13 legal argument is presented by parties contending against each other with respect to legally

14 significant factual issues.” Ic!. at comment h; frtt-Con Const. Corp. v. Sacramento Mtm. Util.

15 Dist., 2006 WL 2050999, at *4 (E.D. Cal. July 20, 2006) (“Litigation’ includes a proceeding in

16 a court or administrative tribunal in which the parties have the right to cross-examine witnesses

17 or to subject an opposing party’s presentation of proof to equivalent disputation.”). And, as set

1$ out in NRS 155.180 (made applicable to Trust proceedings by NRS 164.005), the provisions of

19 law and the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure regulating proceedings in civil cases apply in

20 matters of probate, when appropriate, except as specifically exempted by statute. There is no

21 such exemption for privileges. Thus, the nature of the specific proceeding must be examined as

22 opposed to the nature of trust proceedings in general.

23 Here, the dispute between the parties was adversarial from its very inception as

24 demonstrated by Petitioner’s November 14, 2012, Letter to Lubbers. (See Nov. 14, 2012, Letter,

25 Exhibit 2 to the Opp’n to Privilege Mot.) In that letter, Petitioner made several demands and

26
Discovery Commissioner based her observations and her ultimate finding on the evidence that

27 was presented to her.
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1 threats to Lubbers. Petitioner ultimately followed through with his threats and filed the Initial

2 Petition. Lubbers filed a Response to the Initial Petition in which he stated that he “disagrees”

3 with Petitioner’s allegatiotis and “generally denies the same.” (Response to Initial Petition, on

4 file herein.) And, Lubbers subsequently objected to the Order granting the Initial Petition to the

5 extent it sought all information and documents in his or her control regarding the advisability,

6 necessity, fairness and reasonableness of all aspects of the transaction and whether it was in the

7 best interest of the Irrevocable Trtist.” (Objection to Order Granting Initial Petition, on file

8 herein.) Thus, this proceeding was adversarial from its inception because the parties (Petitioner

9 and Lubbers at the time) disputed the relevant facts, presented opposing arguments, and took

10 opposing positions in Court.1°

11 Nevertheless, in support of his position, Petitioner erroneously argues that Respondents

[2 failed to identify any allegations of wrongdoing that were levied against Lubbers in the Initial

13 Petition. Once again, Petitioner chooses to simply disregard his own allegations in the Initial

14 Petition. Among other things, in the Initial Petition, Scott argued that “the Family Trustee,”

15 which was Lubbers at that time, “violated the fiduciary obligations due and owing to

16 Petitioner[.]” (Exhibit I ¶ C.6. Opp’n to Privilege Mot.) There cannot be any reasonable dispute

17 that this is an allegation of wrongdoing directed at Lubbers, who was the only respondent to the

18 Initial Petition. Similarly, Petitioner alleged that Lubbers, at the time he was the Independent

19 Trustee, “admitted to Petitioner that he had little to no personal knowledge of the Irrevocable

20 Trust’s management or its assets, despite service as Independent Trustee since 2005.” Id. ¶ A.15.

21 Once again, Petitioner is alLeging that Lubbers failed to fulfill his obligations when he was

22 Independent Trustee. As a final example, Petitioner raised the possibility that the sale of the

23 Trttst’s assets was designed to punish Petitioner or harm his financial interests. Id. ¶J D.5-D.6.

24

25
It is also self-evident that a beneficiary of a trust would not request the Court to assume

26 jurisdiction over a trust and order relief if there was no dispute between the beneficiary and the
trustee.

27
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1 Obviously, such an allegation, if proven, could result in civil liability.” Thus, the totally of the

2 circumstances, including the Initial Petition itself, demonstrate that Lubbers reasonably

3 anticipated litigation such that the Group 1 Notes are protected by the work product doctrine.

4 Finally, Petitioner argues that the work product doctrine is limited to the discreet issues

5 contained in the Initial Petition. (Petitioner’s Objection at 22.) Petitioner’s conclusory argument

6 is contrary to the law. The applicable rule appears in Commentj of the Restatement as follows:

j. future litigation. If litigation was reasonably anticipated, the immunity is
8 afforded even if litigation occurs in an unanticipated way. For example, work

product prepared during or in anticipation of a lawsuit i-emains immune in a
9 subsequent suit for indemnification, whether or not the indemnification claim

could have been anticipated. Work product prepared in anticipation of litigation
10 remains protected in all future litigation.

11 Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers § 87, comment j (2000). Thus, because

12 Lubbers’ notes are protected by the work-product doctrine, they are protected for any ture

13 litigation. The work-product doctrine is not limited in any way by the scope of the Initial

14 Petition.

15 2. Lubbers’ Group 2 Notes Are Protected Work Product

16 Next, Petitioner disputes the Discovery Commissioners findings and conclusions that the

17 Group 2 Notes are protected by the work product doctrine. However, Petitioner has not identified

18 any factual deficiency or legal error. Instead, Petitioner merely disagrees with the Discovery

19 Commissioner, which is an insufficient basis for this Court to sustain his objection.

20 Lubbers’ Group 2 Notes were created on or about December 19, 2013, when the parties

21 and their counsel met with Mr. Nicolatus, the individual appointed to conduct a valuation of the

22 Trust’s assets that were sold in May 2013. (Exhibit 6 to Opp’n to Privilege Mot.) The Discovery

23 Commissioner found that even if the Group 2 Notes “constitute work product, there is substantial

24 need that the documents not be deemed protected because there is no other way for petitioner to

25

26
‘‘ This is demonstrated by Petitioner’s Surcharge Petition that raises numerous unsupportable

27 claims on this exact issue.
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I obtain said information from Lubbers via deposition or other means.” (DCRR at 7:19-22, Exhibit

2 1 to Petitioner’s Objection.)

3 To the extent the Discovery Commissioner concluded that the Group 2 Notes are

4 protected work product, her decision is supported by the evidence. As discussed thoroughly

5 above, Lubbers anticipated litigation no later than November 14, 2012, when Petitioner

6 threatened to initiate litigation. See (Nov. 14. 2012, Letter. Exhibit 2 to the Opp’n to Privilege

7 Mot.) Then, in his Initial Petition, Petitioner expressly raised the issue of whether the sale of the

8 Trust’s assets was designed to punish Petitioner or harm his financial interests. (Initial Petition ¶j

9 D.5-D.6, Exhibit I to Opp’n to Privilege Mot.) In connection with Petitioner’s questioning of the

10 sale of the Trust’s assets, Mr. Nicolatus was appointed to conduct the valuation. (Exhibit 6 to

11 Opp’n to Privilege Mot.) Given Petitioner’s adversarial conduct, allegations of Lubbers’

[2 wrongdoing, and express statements that the sale of the Trust’s asset may have been done to

. 13 harm Petitioner, no other conclusion could be reached but that Lubbers anticipated litigation.

r. 14 Absent Lubbers’ anticipation of litigation, the Group 2 Notes would not have been created.

15 Rather than contest the evidence, Petitioner merely argues his unsupported view that he

16 allegedly did not view the proceedings as advetsarial. (Petitioner’s Objection at 22-23.)

17 However, as the Discovery Commissioner correctly pointed out, the relevant inquiry is “what

18 Mr. Lubbers believed.” (Exhibit 7 to Petitioner’s Objection at 90:19-22.) Thus, Petitioner’s post

19 hoc claim that he viewed the valuation as neutral is irrelevant.

3. The Discovery Commissioner Did Not Protect any of Lubbers’ Notes as
21 “Opinion” Work Product

22 Petitioner next argues that the Discovery Commissioner clearly cued by determining that

23 Lubbers’ typed notes may constitute opinion work product because Lubbers was acting as a

24 client and not as an attorney. (Petitioner’s Objection at 23-25.) Petitioner’s argument is

25 misplaced because the Discovery Commissioner’s findings and conclusions make it clear that

26 she did not apply the heighted protection afforded to “opinion work product” to any of Lubbers’

27
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1 notes. As such, the Discovery Commissioner’s statement that the typed notes may constitute

2 opinion work product had no bearing on her conclusions.’2

3 In analyzing the discoverability of work product, courts have distinguished between

4 “ordinary” work product and “opinion” work product. One federal court described the distinction

5 as follows:

6
“Ordinary” work product includes raw factual information while “opinion” work

7 product includes mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of a
party’s attorney or other representative concerning the litigation. Ordinary work

8 product may be discovered if the party seeking the discovery demonstrates a
substantial need for the materials and there is no other means for obtaining that
information without undue hardship. In contrast, opinion work product enjoys

10 stronger protection, and it may be discovered only when mental impressions are at
issue in a case and the need for the material is compelling.

11
Hooke v. Foss Mar. Co., 2014 WL 1457582 (ND. Cal. Apr. 10, 2014) (quotations and citations

12 omitted). “A party seeking opinion work product must make a showing beyond the substantial

13
need/undue hardship test required under Rule 26(b)(3) for non-opinion work product.” Hohngren

14 v. State Fcirin Mitt. Auto. Ins. Co., 976 f.2d 573, 577 (9th Cir. 1992) (citing Upjohn Co. v.

15 United States, 449 U.S. 383, 401—02, 101 S.Ct. 677, 688—89 (1981)). Indeed, “opinion work

16 product enjoys an almost absolute immunity from discovery.” Laxcilt v. McClatchy, 116 F.R.D.

17
438, 441 (D. Nev. 1987).

18
In this case, the Discovery Commissioner found that “Lubbers was not acting as an

19 attorney when he prepared the Disputed Documents.” (DCRR at 3:18-19, Exhibit 1 to

20 Petitioner’s Objection.) The Discovery Commissioner further found while “non-attorneys can

21 prepare protected work product,” “NRCP26(b)(3) only references opinion work product in

22
connection with ‘an attorney or other representative of a party[.]” Id. at 3:20-22. Thus, the

23
Discovery Commissioner adopted the exact argument that Petitioner now makes, i.e. that the

24
heightened protection afforded for opinion work product does not apply to Lubbers’ notes in this

25 case.

26
12 Respondents’ Objections to the DCRR, filed on December 17, 2018, objects to the Discovery

27 Commissioner’s findings and contends that the notes do constitute “opinion” work product.
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1 Nevertheless, Petitioner objects to the following finding in the DCRR that was made with

2 respect to Lubbers’ typed notes (Bates No. RESPOO 13285):

THE COMMISSIONER FURTHER HEREBY FE’JDS that while certain portions
4 of RE5P0013285 may constitute opinion work product, the Factual Statements

constitute ordinary work product. To the extent the factual Statements are
5 intertwined with opinion work product, there is nonetheless substantial need to

have this information disclosed as Petitioner has no other reasonable way to
6 obtain the information referred in the Factual Statements.

7 (DCRR at 5:15-20, Exhibit 1 to Petitioner’s Objection) (emphasis added). In other words, the

8 Discovery Commissioner applied the “substantial need” exception that is only applicable to

9 ordinary work product.

10 As the Nevada Supreme Court has noted, “[w]hile the court may release factual work

11 product to opposing counsel upon a showing of substantial need and inability to acquire

5 12 equivalent information without undue hardship under FRCP 26(b)(3), discovery of the attorney’s

13 mental impressions generally requires a higher showing of need or is undiscoverable altogether.”

14 Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1009, 103 P.3d 25, 30 (2004). Therefore, although the Discovery

15 Commissioner did use the word “opinion” work product, she applied the lower standard that is

16 only applicable to ‘ordinary” work product. Petitioner’s objection regarding opinion work

17 product is unfounded and should be disregarded.

18
4. Petitioner Failed to Demonstrate that this Is a Rare Case Requiring the

19 Disclosure of Opinion Work Product

20
FinalLy. Petitioner argues that even if any portion of Lubbers’ notes constitute opinion

21
work product, Petitioner has a compelling need” for disclosure due to Lubbers’ death.

22
(Petitioner’s Objection at 25-26.) Petitioner’s argument is contrary to the law because (1)

23
Lubbers’ mental impressions are not at issue, and (2) Petitioner can obtain the allegedly factual

24
material from other sources.13

25

26
13 Furthermore, if the Court agrees that Lubbers’ notes are protected by the attorney-client
privilege, it need not consider Petitioner’s argument because compelling need is not an exception

27 to the attorney-client privilege. See NRS 49.115.
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1 As discussed above, “opinion work product enjoys an almost absolute immunity from

2 discovery.” Laxalt, 116 F.R.D. at 441. Opinion work product “is only discoverable when

3 counsel’s mental impressions are at issue and there is a compelling need for disclosure.” Philltps

4 v. C.R. Bctrd, Inc., 290 F.R.D. 615, 634 (D. Nev. 2013) (citing Hohngren v. State Farm Mztt.

5 Auto. Ins. Co., 976 f.2d 573, 577 (9th Cir. 1992)); $ Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2026 (3d ed). The

6 limited exception to non-disclosure of opinion work product includes situations where the

7 attorney has been designated as an expert witness, “advice of counsel” has been raised as a

8 defense, and in certain bad faith insurance claim settlement cases. Vaughan furniture Co. hue. i’.

9 feature/inc Mfg., Inc., 156 F.R.D. 123, 127 (M.D.N.C. 1994) (“A party waives the opinion work

10 product protection of its attorney by naming its attorney as an expert witness.”); Co/ceo Inthts.,

11 Inc. v. Universal City Stttdios, Inc., 110 F.R.D. 688, 691 (S.D.N.Y. 1986); Hohngren, 976 F.2d at

j 12 577.

13 Here, Petitioner does not even argue that this action falls into one of the rare situations

14 where opinion work product is discoverable. The reason is that Lubbers’ mental impressions

. 15 about Petitioner’s Initial Petition (which is the subject of his notes) are simply not at issue. In

16 fact, Petitioner acknowledges that he wants to use the work-product protected material to

17 “demonstrate fraud and breach of fiduciary duties on the part of Respondents, or primarily the

18 Canarellis.”4 (Petitioner’s Objection at 26) (emphasis added). Lubbers’ mental impressions

19 about how the Court might view the case have nothing to do with Petitioner’s fraud and breach

20 of fiduciary duty claims against Lubbers or the Canarellis.

21 Furthermore, this is not a rare case where discovery should be allowed because Petitioner

22 can obtain the same allegedly “factual” information from other sources. Indeed, in the context of

23

24

25
14 should be noted that Petitioner grossly mischaracterizes Lubbers’ type-written notes, which
are the only notes specifically discussed in Petitioner’s Objections. As discussed above, the notes

26 contain Lubbers’ mental impression of how the Court might view this case and are not evidence
of any wrongdoing whatsoever.

27
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1 “ordinary” work product, which requires a lower showing to obtain discovery, the Nevada

2 Supreme Court has stated that discovery cannot be had when the work-product evidence can be

3 obtained from other sources. Wardleigh, 111 Nev. at 359, 891 P.2d at 1188. Thus, if the

4 availability of othet sources precludes discovery for “ordinary” work prodtict, it must necessarily

5 also preclude discovery of “opinion” work product.

6 In this case, Petitioner admits that the Canarellis are able to testify as to the information

7 at issue. (Petitioner’s Objection at 26.) Indeed, it cannot be disputed that Larry Canarelli has

8 personal knowledge of the factual circumstances surrounding the Purchase Agreement. Thus, by

9 Petitioner’s admission alone, he does not have a compelling need for the information in Lubbers’

10 privileged and work-product protected notes.

11 Moreover, the alleged facts” Petitioner seeks to use relate largely to the timing of

12 Petitioner’s request for distributions and the execution of the Purchase Agteement. IS (Exhibit 2

13 to Petitioner’s Objections at RESPOO13285) (submitted in camera). The timing and amounts of

14 distributions made to Petitioner can be deteriiined based on financial records and Petitioner’s

: . 15 own testimony. And, the date and purpose of the Purchase Agreement can be obtained from the

16 face of the Purchase Agreement, which is not inconsistent in any way with Lubbers’ work-

17 product protected notes, and from the testimony of Larry Canarelli.

18 In short, to the extent Petitioner argues there are any “facts” in Lubbers’ work-product

19 protected notes, such information is available from numerous other sources, including

20 Petitioner’s own testimony. Therefore, Ltibbers’ untimely passing does not create any

21 compelling need or substantial need to disclose his work-product protected notes.

22 C. Lubbers Did Not Waive Any Privilege/Protection that Applies to His Notes

23 Unable to demonstrate any error in the DCRR with respect to the determination of

24 attorney-client privilege and work-product protection, Petitioner argues that the Discovery

25

26
The specific information at issue is contained in the first four lines of the typed notes (Bates

27 No. RESPOOY32$) that the Discovery Commissioner did not redact. See footnote 1.
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1 Commissioner erred by not finding waiver. Petitioner’s arguments are meritless.

2 1. No Waiver Occurred Due to AWDI’s AI1eed Possession of Certain Boxes

3 Petitioner first argues that Lubbers waived any potential privilege because his notes were

4 allegedly in the possession of non-party AWDI. (Petitioners Objection at 27-28.) And,

5 Petitioner argues that the Discovery Commissioner erred by finding a common interest between

6 Lubbers and AWDL Id. at 28-34. Petitioner’s argument is factually misleading. Contrary to

7 Petitioner’s argument, the documents at issue were stored at Respondent Larry Canarelli’s office

8 location and viewed by Tina Goode, who has provided assistance with this litigation, as opposed

9 to being provided to a third party unrelated to this action. Moreover, even if the notes were in the

10 “possession of AWDI,” the Discovery Commissioner correctly applied the common interest

1 1 doctrine.

12 “The attorney-client privilege is waived if the client, the client’s lawyer, or another

13 authorized agent of the client voluntarily discloses the communication in a nonprivileged

14 communication.” Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers § 79 (2000). A truly

. 15 inadvertent disclosure of privileged documents does not amount to a waiver. Trctnsamerican

16 Computer Co. v. IBM Corp., 573 f.2d 646, 650—5 1 (9th Cir. 1978); Bowen v. Forking Attth. of

17 City of Camden, 2002 WL 1754493, at *4 (D.N.J. July 30, 2002). Similarly, work product

18 protection is generally waived “when the material is disclosed to an adversary.” Cotter v. Eighth

19 JttdicialDist. Court in &for Cty. of Clark, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 32, 416 P.3d 228, 232 (2018).

20 As a threshold matter in this case, Petitioner has provided no evidence whatsoever that

21 the Group 1 Notes or the Group 2 Notes were actually provided to AWDI. Instead, Petitioner

22 merely cites to an e-mail from Tina Goode, the Director of Corporate Administration with

23 AWDI, who has assisted Larry with this litigation, (August 29, 2018, Transcript at 107:16-22),

24 that states, “we received Ed’s boxes back from” Lubbers’ counsel. (Exhibit 12 to the Privilege

25 Mot.) Ms. Goode’s e-mail does not say anything about receiving or reviewing any of Lubbers’

26

27
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1 privileged or protected notes. Id. Instead, Ms. Goode was explicitly referring to an e-mail

2 confinning deferring payments. Id.

3 “Waiver results only when a nonprivileged person learns the substance of a privileged

4 communication.” Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers § 79, comment e. (2000).

5 In this case, Petitioner simply spectilates that Lubbers’ notes were contained within the boxes

6 and reviewed by Ms. Goode. Thus, Petitioner’s entire argument is misplaced and unsupported

7 by the record.

$ More importantly, Petitioner’s characterization of the documents as being in the

9 possession of AWDI is entirely misleading. Respondents in this case include the Canarellis and

10 Lubbers, as fot-mer family trustees of the Trust. The Canarellis founded American West Home

11 Building Group (“AWG”), which incitides AWDI. (Objection to Surcharge Petition ¶ 1.) Larry is

12 an executive with AWG and AWDI and maintains his office at the location where the boxes at

13 issue were stored. Tina Goode has assisted Larry with issues related to this lawsuit. Lubbers and

14 Larry (along with Bob Evans) conducted their weekly Friday meetings regarding the Trust at the

: . 15 offices of Lany/AWDI. (Williams Declaration ¶ 7, attached to the Opp’n to Privilege Motion.)

16 In light of the above, Petitioner’s characterization of Lubbers’ documents as being in the

17 possession of AWDI employees is misleading and inaccurate. The records were at AWDI’s

18 offices due to the fact that Larry maintains his office at that location, which is also the location

19 where weekly meetings occurred concerning the Trust. And, Tina Goode has assisted with this

20 litigation. (Aug. 29, 2018, Transcript at 107:16-22, Exhibit 7 to Petitioner’s Objection.) This is

21 not a case were attorney-client privileged or work product protected documents were disclosed to

22 a third party. Instead, Ms. Goode’s e-mail merely shows that the documents were stored at

23 Respondent Larry Canarelli’s office and viewed by an individual assisting him with this

24 litigation. Tints, contrary to Petitioner’s argument, there was no voluntarily disclosure of

25 attorney-client privileged or work-product protected materials. Petitioner’s entire argument is

26 misplaced and contrary to the facts in this case.

27
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1 Even if the documents are somehow considered to be in the “possession” of AWDI based

2 on an e-mail from Tina Goode, the Discovery Commissioner correctly found that no waiver

3 occurred in accordance with the common interest doctrine. Petitioner spends an inordinate

4 amount of time briefing the non-issue that there are no claims asserted against AWDI in this case

5 and that AWDI is separate entity from the Respondents in this case. (Petitioner’s Objection at

6 29-34.) Petitioner then claims that these innocuous facts somehow demonstrate the common

7 interest doctrine was erroneously applied. Petitioner’s argument, however, is based on a

8 complete disregard of the relevant circumstances of this case and the law regarding the common

9 interest rule.

10 Nevada law recognizes the common interest doctrine with respect to both the attorney

11 client privilege and the work product doctrine. See NRS 49.095(3) (protecting confidential

12 communications “[m]ade for the purpose of facilitating the rendition of professional legal

13 services to the client, by the client or the client’s lawyer to a lawyer representing another in a

14 matter of common interest.”) (emphasis added); see also Cotter, 416 P.3d at 230 (recognizing

: . 15 the common interest rule in the context of the work-product doctrine). Contrary to Petitioner’s

16 argument, “[tJhe rule is not narrowly limited to co-parties.” Cotter, 416 P.3d at 232; Nidec Corp.

17 v. Victor Co. of Jctpan, 249 F.R.D. 575, 578 (N.D. Cal. 2007) (‘In order for the joint defense

18 theory to apply, there need not be actual litigation.”). Instead, “[t]he common interest rule

19 protects communications made to a non-party who shares the client’s interests.” O’Boyle v.

20 Borough of Longport, 426 N.J. Super. 1, 10, 42 A.3d 910, 916 (App. Div. 2012) (citations and

21 internal quotations omitted). “The parties need not have identical interests, merely a ‘common

22 purpose.” Id. “The rationale for the joint defense or common interest privilege focuses not on

23 when documents were generated, but on the circumstances surrounding the disclosure of

24 privileged documents to a jointly interested third party.” FSP Stallion 1, LLC v. Luce, 2010

25 WL 3895914, at *16 (D. Nev. Sept. 30, 2010) (citations and internal quotations omitted)

26 (emphasis added).

27
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1 As discussed above, in this case, there is no evidence any privileged or protected

2 information was actually received by AWDI. Instead, the information was simply stored at Larry

3 Canarelli’s office location and certain non-privileged documents were reviewed by Ms. Goode,

4 who has assisted Larry with this litigation. Larry and Lubbers are both respondents in this action.

5 And, defending charges asserted by a common party in litigation is the classic example of a

6 common legal interest. See FSF Stallion 1, LLC v. Lttce, 2010 WL 3895914, at *16 (D. Nev.

7 Sept. 30, 2010) (“The joint defense privilege has been extended to civil co-defendants because

8 ‘[t]he need to protect the free flow of information from client to attorney logically exists

9 whenever multiple clients share a common interest about a legal matter.”).

10 Moreover, Petitioner entirely ignores the circumstances of this case. It is undisputed that

11 the assets owned by Petitioner’s Trust were gifted to him by Larry and Heidi and largely

5 12 consisted of entities that comprised part of AWG’s home building operations. In fact, Petitioner

. 13 has subpoenaed several entities within AWG, including AWDI. And, litigation has ensued

14 regarding Petitioner’s attempts to compel documents from AWDI. (Petitioner’s July 23, 2018,

: 15 Motion to Compel, on file herein.) In fact, in Petitioners Motion to Compel records from

16 AWDI, Petitioner contends that AWDI provided records to Stephen Nicolatus so that Mr.

17 Nicolatus could perform a valuation of the assets sold as part of the Purchase Agreement. Id. at

18 6. And, Petitioner is challenging the accuracy of such information. Petitioner also complains ad

19 nauseum regarding the construction costs incurred by AWDI which offset the assets’ valuation.

20 Thus, at a minimum AWDI has a common interest with Respondents in supporting the accuracy

21 of the financial information and defending against Petitioner’s scorched-earth litigation.

22 Petitioner also confuses the issue of conducting discovery against a non-party with the

23 scope of the common interest doctrine to claim that Respondents are somehow taking

24 inconsistent positions. (Petitioner’s Objection at 3 1-33.) However, as explained above, AWDI’s

25 status as a non-party has no bearing on whether it can share a common interest with

26 Respondents. See Cotter, 416 P.3d at 232. Thus, there is nothing inconsistent about AWDI’s

27
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1 defense to Petitioner s excessively broad discovery requests and the assertion of the common

2 interest doctrine.

3 finally, Petitioner states that “Respondents prodtice no evidence that the Lubbers’ boxes

4 were secured in any type of manner to protect the ‘sanctity’ of the attorney client privilege and/or

5 work product doctrine.” (Petitioner’s Objection at 33.) Although Respondents believe such

6 evidence is unnecessary in light of all of the above arguments, if the Court has any lingering

7 concerns, Respondents would gladly present evidence the materials have been securely stored at

8 all times.

9 2. Respondents’ Inadvertent Disclosure Does Not Constitute Waiver

10 in its last effort to challenge the DCRR, Petitioner argues that Respondents’ production

11 of documents was reckless and somehow constitutes waiver. (Petitioner’s Objection at 34.) The

12 Court should summarily reject Petitioner’s argument because it was never presented to the

13 Discovery Commissioner, it is being raised for the first time in his Objection, it is made in

14 violation of the parties’ ESI Protocol, and there is no evidence that Respondents acted recklessly.

15 As the Court is aware, Respondents’ discovery and document production in this case has been a

16 massive effort and was required to be done in connection with substantial litigation in this highly

17 contentious case. Respondents’ document productions, and in particular the production of

18 Lubbers’ files, occurred during the period of time in which Lubbers was suffering from cancer

19 and cancer treatments, which certainly impacted Lubbers’ involvement in such productions.

20 Given the extensive work that Respondents have done, the inadvertent disclosure of the limited

21 pages of privileged/protected notes at issue in this case does not evidence waiver.

22 As a threshold matter, Petitioner’s argument regarding recklessness was never raised in

23 his briefing on the underlying Privilege Motion or decided by the Discovery Commissioner. The

24 Nevada Supreme Court has made it clear that district courts will not consider a new argument

25 that was not first decided by the Discovery Commissioner. Valley Health Sys., LLC, 127 Nev. at

26 172, 252 P.3d at 679. “All arguments, issues, and evidence should be presented at the first

27
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1 opportunity and not held in reserve to be raised after the commissioner issues his or her

2 recommendation.” Id. Any other conclusion would “‘frustrate the purpose” of having discovery

3 commissioners.” Id. Because Petitioner is raising this argument for the first time in his

4 Objection, this Court is precluded from considering the issue and it must be summarily rejected

5 by the Court. See id.

6 Second, Petitioner should be baiTed from making his waiver argument because he

7 expressly agreed not to argue that any waiver occulTed through the inadvertent production of

8 privileged or protected materials. On or about December 15, 2017, the parties entered into an ESI

9 Protocol, a binding contract. (Exhibit 3 to the Privilege Mot.) In the EST Protocol, Petitioner

10 agreed, among other things, as follows:

11
The parties agree that the Prodticing Party is not waiving, and the Requesting

12 Party will not argue that the Producing Party has waived, any claims of attorney
client privilege, attorney work product protection, or any other privilege or

13 protection, including protections enumerated in the Stipulated Confidentiality
Agreement and Protective Order, by making documents available for

14 examination.

15 Id. at 2-3. In addition, Petitioner agreed that in any motion brought to resolve a claim of

16 privilege, the parties “may only contest the asserted privileges on ground other than the

17 inadvertent production of such document(s).” Id. at 9. Finally, Petitioner agreed that “[t]he

1$ failure of any party to provide notice or instruction under this Paragraph shall not constitute a

19 waiver of, or estoppel as to, any claim of attorney-client privilege, attorney work product, or

20 other ground for withholding production as to which the Disclosing or Producing Party would be

21 entitled in this action.” Id. Thus, by the plain language of the ESI Protocol, the parties intended

22 to foreclose any argument that the unintended disclosure of privileged information constitutes

23 waiver.16

24

25

26
16 Petitioner’s coLinsel acknowledged the applicability of these provisions below. See Hr’g Tr.
dated Aug. 29, 2018 at 67:10-11 (“1 have not argued that [i.e., that waiver can be caused by

27 inadvertent production despite terms of ESI Protocol].”).
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Despite Petitioner’s express agreement that no waiver would occur fiorn the disclosure or

2 production of privileged 01. protected materials and Petitioner’s agreement that he would tiot

3 make such an argument, Petitioner now claims that Lubbers waived the privilege through his

4 inadvertent disclosure. Because the parties entered into a valid and definite contract and any

5 other remedy would be inadequate, the Court should order Petitioner to specifically perform the

6 terms of the contract, which would preclude Petitioner from raising such an argument. See

7 Mayfleld v. Koroghli, 124 Nev. 343, 351, 184 P.3d 362, 367 (2008) (stating the elements for the

8 remedy of specific performance).

9 Nevertheless, Petitioner attempts to avoid breaching the ESI Protocol by making a

10 distinction that does not exist in the ESI Protocol itself or in Nevada law. Specifically, Petitioner

11 attempts to distinguish a “reckless” disclosure from an “inadvertent” disclosure. (Petitioner’s

12 Objection at 34-40.) Contrary to Petitioner’s argument, reckless’7 conduct falls within the scope

13 of inadvertent conduct and is governed by the ESI Protocol.

14 The word inadvertent” is defined as inattentive or unintentional. https://www.rneffiam

15 webster.com/dictionary/inadvertent (last visited January 14, 2019); Black’s Law Dictionary 827

16 (9th ed. 2009) (defining “inadvertence” as “[am accidental oversight; a result of carelessness.”).

17 The word “reckless,” on the other hand, is “marked by lack of proper caution: careless of

18 consequences.” https://www .melTiam-webster. comldictionary/reckless (lasted visited January 14,

19 2019). In other words, reckless conduct is still inadvertent because it is unintentional. Thus,

20 recklessness is a subset of inadvertence and indisputably falls within the scope of the ESI

21 Protocol.

22 This argument is further supported by Petitioner’s own case law. In support of his

23 argument that inadvertent disclosures can still constitute a waiver, Petitioner relies, in part, on

24 fed. Deposit Ins. Corp. i’. Marine Midland Realty Credit Corp., 138 F.R.D. 479, 480 (E.D. Va.

25 1991). In that case, the Eastern District of Virginia distinguished between the inadvertent

26

27 17 As discussed further below, Respondents vehemently dispute that they acted with recklessness.
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1 disclosure of privileged information based on negligence (which the court concluded does not

2 constitute waiver) and the inadvertent disclosure of privileged information based on gross

3 negligence or recklessness (which the court concluded may rise to the level of waiver). Id. at

4 481. In either case, the court recognized that the conduct, whether negligent or reckless, was

5 inadvertent. Id.

6 In this case, it is undisputed that the disclosure of the Group 1 and Group 2 Notes was

7 unintentional. As such, Petitioner’s entire argument is immaterial because Respondents’

8 unintentional disclosure is directly within the scope and intent of the ESI Protocol.

9 Petitioner’s citation to irth Sols., LLC v. Windstrearn Cornmc’ns, LLC, 2018 WL 575911,

10 at *1 (S.D. Ohio Jan. 26, 2018), does not impact or alter this analysis in any way. In irth Sots.,

11 LLC, the defendant produced 2,200 pages of documents, which included 43 documents (146

12 pages) that were later recognized as privileged.18 Id. at 1. In seeking to claw back such

13 documents, defendant relied upon an e-mail exchange in which the parties agreed that

14 inadvertent production would not operate as a waiver of the privilege. Id. at *4 Thus, the

15 defendant argued that the parties had no duty to prevent inadvertent disclosure. Id.

16 The federal district court rejected this argument because Federal Rule of Evidence

17 502(b)(2) expressly requires the holder of the privilege to take “reasonable steps to prevent

18 disclosure.” Id. at *5; Fed. R. Evid. 502(b)(2). The court found that if a party wishes to remove

19 the safeguards of Rule 502(b)(2), then the parties’ agreement must reflect such an understanding.

20 Id. However, the parties’ e-mail agreement did not contain any language that there would be no

21 pre-production review. Id.

22 irth Sots., LLC is distinguishable for numerous reasons, including the fact that Nevada

23 has not adopted Federal Rule of Evidence 502 or any similar rule. Thus, contrary to the

24

_________________________

25
18 Notably, the magistrate judge found that waiver occurred, in part, because “the privileged
documents were not a needle-in-the-haystack but comprised ‘more than 10% of the entire

26 production.” irth Sols., LLC, 2018 WL 575911, at *3 In contrast, the privileged documents at
issue in this case consist of a handful of pages out of more than two hundred thousand (200,000)

27 pages of documents.
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1 governing law in that case, there is no requirement in Nevada for the parties to include any

2 specific language in the ESI Protocol other than what is contained in that document. Moreover,

3 contrary to the position taken by the defendant in irth Sols., LLC, Respondents have never argued

4 that they had no duty of care. Instead, as demonstrated below, Respondents took reasonable

5 precautions to protect their privileged information.

6 Indeed, even setting aside the ESI Protocol, the Nevada Supreme Court has never

7 addressed the circumstances under which an inadvertent disclosure might amount to waiver.

8 And, courts across the country are split on the appropriate standard. 8 Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. §
9 2016.3 (3d ed.) (describing the different approaches courts have taken). The Restatement (Third)

10 of the Law Governing Lawyers § 79 (2000) provides that “[w]aiver does not resuLt if the client or

11 other disclosing person took precautions reasonable in the circumstances to guard against such

12 disclosure.” See also Fed. R. Evid. 502(b). And, federal courts have held that the inadvertent

13 disclosure of a few privileged documents does not waive the privilege when a large number of

14 documents are involved and reasonable precautions were taken. Transamerica Compttter Co. v.

15 International Business Mach. Corp., 573 F.2d 646, 652 (9th Cir. 1978); Kansas-Nebraska Nat.

16 Gas Co. v. Marathon Oil Co., 109 F.R.D. 12, 21 (D. Neb. 1983) (no waiver when one document

17 among 75,000 produced “slipped through the cracks” of otherwise careful screening procedure).

18 As previously described to the Court in this case, Respondents have undergone an

19 extraordinary effort to locate, review and produce hundreds of thousands of pages of

20 documents.19 See Fed. R. Evid. 502 advisory committee notes (Revised 11/28/2007) (stating that

21 in evaluating the reasonableness of a party’s efforts, the Court should consider “the number of

22 documents to be reviewed and the time constraints for production.”). Specifically, over the

23 course of approximately one year, Respondents have made at least sixteen separate document

24

25

26 For example, on July 13, 2018, Respondents Submitted a Status Report describing their
compliance with e-discovery in this matter. Rather than fully describing such discovery efforts

27 here, Respondents incorporate their Status Report herein by this reference.
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1 disclosures. In total, these materials consist of nearly two hundred thousand pages of documents,

2 and at least fourteen thousand five hundred and thirty-nine (14,539) individual documents.

3 At the time this massive discovery effort was underway, Respondents also had to litigate

4 numerous substantial issues in this case, including multiple discovery motions, Petitioner’s

5 incessant requests for sanctions, and whether Petitioner’s Supplemental Surcharge Petition fails

6 to state a claim for relief, just to name a few. From September 30, 2017 through April 6, 2018,

7 there were four hearings and ten filings by Respondents of responsive documents to motions or

8 objections filed by Petitioner, all while Respondents were reviewing and producing a massive

9 number of documents. Multiple professionals, with differing knowledge of the matters and

10 issues. were involved in the review and production of documents. Petitioner’s present Objection

11 is a representative sample of the ongoing litigation in this case as it is forty pages long and

12 presents numerous issues, which required substantial time to oppose.

.g 13 Nevertheless, during all of this litigation, Respondents took reasonable steps to protect

14 their privileged and protected information while still producing such documents within a

15 reasonable time frame. First, Respondents entered into the ESI Protocol itself. As discussed

16 above, in the ESI Protocol, the parties specifically agreed that no waiver of privileged or

17 protected information would occur based on the disclosure of the same. (Exhibit 3 to the

18 Privilege Mot.) Thus, Respondents were proactive about protecting their privilege in the event of

19 unintentional disclosure.

20 Second, Respondents’ counsel utilized Relativity, an electronic database to review and

21 analyze documents, code documents, remove duplicate documents, identify near duplicate

22 documents, and protect attorney-client and work-product documents. During this process,

23 Dickinson Wright utilized numerous attorneys to review all documents prior to the time they

24 were produced, including several attorneys who had not previously been involved in the case.2°

25 20 It should be noted that Petitioner also misconstrues Respondents’ efforts to claw back all
26 privileged materials. See (Petitioner’s Objection at 37-39.) Contrary to Petitioner’s assertions,

Respondents did not fail to claw back any disputed documents. See Id. Instead, during the
27 parties’ November 2, 2018, telephone call, the only document that was specifically discussed
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1 Respondents’ diligence is in stark contrast to the circumstances presented in Figenheim

2 Bank v. Hatpemn, 598 F. Supp. 988 (S.D.N.Y. 1984), which Petitioner relies upon in his

3 Objection. (Petitioner’s Objection at 36.) In Figenheim Bank, the court found that a party waived

4 its privilege by disclosing the document at issue in connection with two separate cases. Id. at

5 989-90. In that case, the document was not part of a voluminous production. Id. at 991.

6 Moreover, the document was speeUIcallv requested as one of only thirty documents.” Id. And,

7 despite the fact that it was previously produced in other litigation and the privilege was asserted,

8 it was again produced. Id. Finally, the producing party did nothing more than simply claim the

9 production was inadvertent. Id.

10 In contrast to Eigenheim Bank, Respondents exercised diligence and precautions in

11 connection with a massive document production. Nevertheless, a handful of documents were

j 12 inadvertently produced. Given the huge number of documents that were reviewed, the

13 precautions Respondents took to protect privileged and protected information, the time

14 constraints involved, and the continuing ongoing litigation, there is no good faith argument that

15 Respondents have somehow waived either the attorney-client privilege or the work-product

16 doctrine.2’

17 Petitioner is simply trying to obtain an advantage in litigation by mischaracterizing a

18 privileged document because Petitioner has no actual evidence to support his claims. Petitioner’s

19

20

21 was the typed notes (Bates No. RESP0013285), which is why that document was specifically
clawed back. (Nov. 2, 2018, E-mail from Colby Williams to Dana Dwiggins, Exhibit 1.)

22 Nevertheless, the parties expressly agreed that the issue of privilege was being presently litigated
before the Court. Id. Because the issues was already being litigated, there was no need to

23 specifically claw back other documents as the decision was in the hands of the Court.

24 21 It should be noted that contrary to Petitioner’s argument, Respondents continued to review

95 their production as needed by the demands of the case. See (Petitioner’s Objection at 37-38.)
— However, the federal court rule Petitioner is advocating for “does not require a producing party
26 to engage in post-production review to determine whether any protected communication or

information has been produced by mistake.” See Fed. R. Evid. 502 advisory committee notes
27 (Revised 11/28/2007).
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1 unsupported speculation that Respondents failed to take reasonable steps is contrary to the facts

2 of this case and his new argument must be rejected.

3 V. CONCLUSION

4 The Discovery Commissioner carefully considered the parties’ arguments, reviewed the

5 evidence, and conducted a lengthy hearing before issuing her report and recommendation. There

6 is no question that the Discovery Commissioner’s factual findings are supported by the evidence.

7 furthermore, the Discovery Commissionet’s legal conclusions that Lubbers’ Notes are protected,

$ at least in part, by the attorney-client privilege and the work-product doctrine is not clearly

9 erroneous. As such, Petitioner’s Objections should be overruled in their etitirety.

10 DATED this 14th day of January, 2019.

11
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

2 I hereby certify that on the 14th day of January, 2019, I caused a copy of the foregoing

3 RESPONDENTS’ OPPOSITION TO PETITIONER’S OBJECTION TO THE

4 DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER’S REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS ON (1) THE

5 MOTION FOR DETERMINATION OF PRIVILEGE DESIGNATION, (2) THE

6 SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEFING ON APPRECIATION DAMAGES to be served through the

7 Eighth Judicial District Court’s electronic filing system, addressed to the following party:

8

Dana Dwiggins, Esq.
Alexander LeVeque, Esq.

io Tess Johnson, Esq.
SOLOMON DWIGGINS & FREER, LTD

11 9060 West Cheyenne Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89129

12 ddwiggins(sdfnvlaw.com

13 a1evegue(Zsdfnvlaw.com
‘ tjohnson(isdfnv1aw .com

14 Counsel for Scott Canarelli

15
Is! Cindy S. Grinstead

16 An Employee of Dickinson Wright
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Cindy S. Grinstead

From: Dana Dwiggins <ddwiggins@sdfnvlaw.com>
Sent: Friday, November 2, 2018 5:07 PM
To: Colby Williams
Cc: Jeffrey P. Luszeck; Tess E. Johnson; Erin L. Hansen; Terrie Maxfield; Elizabeth Brickfield;

Joel Z. Schwarz; Phil Erwin
Subject: Re: Clawback Request

I agree with your summary of our conversation.

Dana A. Dwiggins
Solomon Dwiggins & Freer, Ltd.
9060W. Cheyenne Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89129
Direct Dial: 702.589.3505
Facsimile: 702.853.5485
Email: ddwiggins@sdfnvlaw.com

Website: www.sdfnvlaw.com

LjJ www.faceboc!k.com/sdfnvlaw
E- www.linkedin.com/company/solomon-dwiggins-&-freer-ltd

Please consider the environment before printing this email.

This message contains confidential information and may also contain information subject to the attorney

client privilege orthe attorney work product rules. If you are not the intended recipient, please delete the

message and contact Solomon Dwiggins & Freer, Ltd. at 702-853-5483. Any disclosure, copying, distribution,

reliance on or use of the contents of this message by anyone other than the intended recipient is prohibited.

On Nov 2, 2018, at 5:03 PM, Colby Williams <icw@cwlawlv.com> wrote:

Dana,

I am following up on our telephone conversation this afternoon wherein we discussed several topics,
one of which was your notification to me that the Ed Lubbers’ type-written notes originally produced as
RESPOO132B5 have also been produced at Bates No. RESP0088955. As you know, we contend the notes

1
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are privileged and were inadvertently produced. Petitioner disagrees, and the parties are presently
litigating the privilege dispute before the Court. In any event, for completeness, we hereby provide
notice of our request to clawback Bates No. RESP0088955 pursuant to Paragraph 21 of the parties’ ESI
Protocol. lunderstand Petitioner disputes our position, but agrees to sequester the document pursuant
to the parties’ agreement. We will also undertake a further review of Respondents’ production to
determine whether any other documents (including those that are the subject of the pending privilege
dispute) were included as part of this or other productions.

Please advise if I have incorrectly summarized our discussion. Thank you for the notification.

Regards,
Colby

J. Colby Williams, Esq.
Campbell & Williams
700 South Seventh Street
Las Vegas, Nevada $9101
T: 702.382.5222
F: 702.382.0540
Email: jc4’(cwlawlv.com

This messae is intended for the individual or entity to which it is addressed and may contain information
that is privileged, confidential and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If the reader of this
message is not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or
copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this information in error,
please notify us immediately by telephone, and return the original message to us at the above address via
U.S. Postal Service. Thank You.
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